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WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463
November 28, 2000

|]

TO: THE COMMISSION

THROUGH.: JAMES A. PEHRKON

STAFF DIRECTOR
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON (O

ASSISTANT STAFR/DIRECTOR

REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: REASON TO BELIEVE RECOMMENDATION -

2000 OCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORT FOR THE
ADMINISTRATIVE FINES PROGRAM

Attached are two lists of political commitiees and their treasurers who failed to file
or timely file the 2000 October Quarterly Report in accordance with 2 U.S.C. 434(a). On
September 21, 2000, Prior Notice was sent t0 all political comumittees and their treasurers,
informing them that the 2000 October Quarterly Report was due on October 15, 2000.
The report should cover from July 1, 2000 (or the closing date of the last report filed)

through September 30, 2000.

The comunittees appearing on the first list (not election-sensitive) either filed the
report more than five (5) days after the due date, failed to file the report or filed the report
more than thirty (30) days after the due date (considered a non-filed report). The
committees appearing on the second list (election-sensitive) either filed the report more
than five {5) days after the due date, failed to file the report or failed to file the report
prior to four (4) deys before the general election (considered a mon-filed report). In
accordance with the schedule of civil money penalties for reports at 11 CFR 111.43, these
committees should be assessed the civil money penalties included on the attached lists.



Recommendation

(1) Find reason to believe that the political committees and their treasurers
listed on the RTB Circulation Reports

violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the civil money
penalties would be the amounts indicated on the RTB Circulation Reports.

(@)

(3) Send the appropriate letters.

(4
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washingion, DC 20463

DATE & TiME OF TRANSMITTAL: Tuesday, November 28, 2000 4:00
BALLOT DEADLINE: Friday, December 01, 2000 _4:00

: COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SANDSTROM, SMITH, THOMAS, WOLD

SUBJECT: Reason To Believe Recommendation 2000 October
Quarterly Report For The Administrative Fines Program.

(0) | approve the recommeandation(s)

) | approve the recommendations except those following
to which | object (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

i FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION

L3
]

[

AR



BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Reason to Believe Recommendation 2000
October Quarterly Report for the
Administrative Fines Program

PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS, and JOSEPH CHOU

ag treasurer;
RZY HAYNES FOR US SENATE, and BETTY

PRESLEY ag treasurer;

LEE STEERS FOR CONGRESS / 2000, and
MARY LYNN LANIER as bLreasurer;

JANEZICH FOR US SENATE COMMITTEE, and
RAFAERL ORTEGA as treasurer;
DANNER FOR CONGRESS, and EARL SOETAERT

ag treasurer;
MOORE FOR US SENATE, and LARRY KOPSA

as treasurer;

TOM FOLEY FOR US SENATE, and FRANK M
VACCARO JR ag treasurer;

JUDY SMITHE FOR CONGRESS, and ALVERNON
MCHENRY as treasgurer;

P e e

)

Agenda Document
No. X00-87

AF# 97

AFH# o8

AF# 100

AF# 102

AF# 103

AF# 104

AFH# 107

AF# 113



Pederal Election Commigsion Page 3
Certification for Administrative Pines ‘

December 05, 2000
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JEFF WRIGHT FOR CONGRESS EXPLORATORY ) AFH# 139
COMMITTEE, and D GERALD SERRFOSS as }
treasurer; )
COMMITTEE TO ELECT KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR ) AF# 140

N US SENATE, and KEVIN MCKEIGUE as )

4 treasurer; )

e

il
HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS, and BRUCE & ) AFP# 143
RAFER as treasurer; )

MEEKS FOR CONGRESS 2000, and CHARLES H ) AFH# 145
REEVES III as treasurer; )

EVA CLAYTON COMMITTEE FOR CONGRESS, } Ar4 148
and PATSY T HARGROVE as treasurer; )

E*TRADE GROUP INC PAC (BE®TRADE PAC), AF¢ 150

and MICHAEZL CHOCHON as traasurall
AMERICAN ACADEMY OF EMERGENCY MEDICINE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTIEE AARM BAC, ..
and WILLIAM R LITTLE MD FAAEM as
treagurer;

AMERICAN MRAT INSTITUTE POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILYGREN
as Lroasurer;

AF# 181

AF# 152

T e Yomet Yowd o et Yaf e’



Federal Election Commigsion
Certification for Administrative Fines

December 05, 20600

CINCINNATI BELL INC FEDERAL POLITICAL

ACTICN COMMITTEE, and MARK W PETERSON

as treasurer;

CITIZENS FOR THE REPUBLIC, and CAROLYN
ROBERTSON as treasurer;

INN/PAC INT'L ASSN OF HOLIDAY IHNS INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAMES
¥ MCCAULEY as trecasurer;

MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT M
RITTLEMAN as treasurer;

PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION NHO 1
NYC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
GEORGE W REILLY as treasurer;

TACO POLITICAZL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
PETER ERAUN as treasurer);

UNITED ASSOCIATION OF
STEAM/PIPEFITTERS LOCAL UNION B24
POLITICAL ACTION FUND, and ANTHONY
GALENAS as trzasurer;

VIACOM INTERMATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTER, and MICHAEL CRUZ asg
traeasurar;

WISCOHSIN RISHT 0 LIFE POLITICAL

ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD J FOX as

treasurer;
MACOME COUNTY DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE,
and NANCY FALCOCHE as treasurer;

T s N Nl N

L N R N R N "

Page

APH# 153

AFH# 154

AF#f 156

AF# 158

AFE 159

AF§ 162

AF# 163

AF# 164

AF# 165

AFH# 166
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Federal EBlection Commission
Cartification for Administrative Fines

December 05, 2000

WEST VIRGINIA REPUBLICAN STATE
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and ROBERT J
GCOULD as treasurer;

CALIFORNIA VOTER GUIDE, and LEE ANN
FITZGERALD as treasurer;

PECO ENERGY COMPANY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILADELPHIA ELECTRIC
COMPANY PAC), and THERESA M RUCH as

treasurer;

Page

AF# 168

AF# 169

AF# 172

5
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Pederal Election Commission Page 6
Certification for Administrative ¥Fines
December 05, 20400

CERTIFICATION

I, Darlene Harris, recording secretary for the
Federal Election Commission executive session on
December 5, 2000, do hereby certify that the
Commission took the following actions with respect
to the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated

November 28, 2000, on the following committeas:

AFH# 97: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £ind
reason t£0 believe that PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS, and
JOSEPH CHOU ze treasurer, violated 2 U.S5.C. 434 (a)
and make a2 preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (3) send the appropriate letter,
Commizsioners Maseon, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision,
Commigsioner Thomas did not veote.

AFH# 98: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £ind
reason to believe that RAY HAYNES FOR US SENATE, and
BETTY PRESLEY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S8.C. 434(a)



Pederal Rlection Commigsion Page 7
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

i

-
Ll
7

Lh
;

4
H
E
S
HER
4%
foned
s

AF# 100: Decided by a vete of 5-0 te: (1) find
reason to believe that LEE STEERS FOR CONGRESS /
2000, and MARY LYNN LANIER as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively £for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 102: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that JANEZICH FOR US SENATE
COMMITTEE, and RAFAEL ORTEGA as treasurer, violated
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Federal Election Commission Page 8
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

2 U.S.C. 434{a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 103: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1} £ind
reason to believe that DANNER FOR CONGRESS, and EARL
SOETAERT as treasurer, vieclated 2 U.S5.C. 434(a) and
make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 104: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £find
reason to believe that MOORE FOR US SENATE, and
LARRY KOPSA as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil
meney penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.



Federa) Blection Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines

December 05, 2000

Page 8
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. ArF# 107: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
f reason to beliesve that TOM FOLEY FOR US SENATE, and
ﬁ; FRANK M VACCARO JR as treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C,
§; 434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the
bty civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
= the report; {2) send the appropriate letter.
i Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and

Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.



Federal Election Commission Page 190
Certification for Adminigtrative Fines

December 905, 2000

AF# 113: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that JUDY SMITH FOR CONGRESS, and
ALVERNON MCHENRY as treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated en
the report; {2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissicnex Thomaz did not vote.



Federal Election Commission

Page 16

Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

AF# 139: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that JEFF WRIGHT FOR CONGRESS
EXPLORATORY COMMITTEE, and D GERALD SEARFOSS as
treagurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(2) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commigsioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas

did not vote.

AF# 140: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £ind
raagson to believe that COMMITTEE TO ELECT KEVIN
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Federal Election Commigsion
Certification for Administrative Fines

December 05, 2000

Page 17

MCKEIGUE FOR US SENATE, and KEVIN MCKEIGUE as
treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C. 434{a) and make a
preliminary determination that the eivil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas

did not vete.

AF# 143: Pecided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £find
reason to believe that HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS, and
BRUCE E RAFER as treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S.C. 434(a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissionex Thomas did not vote.
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AF# 145: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £ind
reagon to believe that MEEKS FOR CONGRESS 2000, and
CHARLES H REEVES III as treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C.
434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith., and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.



| Federal Election Commission Page 13
| Certification for Administrative Fines
' December 05, 2000

| AF# 148: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that EVA CLAYTON COMMITTEE FOR
CONGRESS, and PATSY T HARGROVE as treasurex,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434{a) and make a preliminazry
determination that the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2] send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
gandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for
the decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 150: Decided by a vote ¢f 5-0 to: (1) £find
reason to believe that E*TRADE GROUP INC PAC
(E*TRADE PAC), and MICHAEL CHOCHON as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(2) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for
the decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 151: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £find
reagon to believe that AMERICAN ACADEMY OF EMERGENCY
MEDICINE POLITICAL ACTICN COMMITTEE AAEM PAC, and
WILLIAM R LITTLE MD FAAEM as treasurer, violated 2
U.8.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decisicn. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.
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AP#§ 152: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that AMERICAW MEAT INSTITUTE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILYGREN as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commisgioner Thomas
did not vote.

AF# 183: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that CINCINNATI BELL INC FEDERAL
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARK W PETERSON as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S8.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas
did not vote.

AF# 154: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason teo believe that CITIZENS FOR THE REPUBLIC,
and CAROLYN ROBERTSON as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affixmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.
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AF# 156: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £ind
reason to believe that INN/PAC INT'L ASSH OF HOLIDAY
INNS INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAMES P
MCCAULEY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S8.C. 434(a) and
make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not wvote.

AFH 158: Decided by a vote of 5-0 te: (1) find
reason to believe that MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT M KITTLEMAN as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDeonald, Sandetrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas

did not wvote,

AFPH# 159: Decided by a vote of 5-0 teo: (1) £find
reason te believe that PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION NO 1
NYC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and GEORGE W REILLY
as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the ¢ivil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
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(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Magon, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas

did not wvote.

AFH# 162: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that TACC POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and PETER BRAUN as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary detexmination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; {(2) =end the appropriate
letter. Cormissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decisgion. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 163: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reagon to believe that UNITED ASSOCIATION OF
STEAM/PIPEFITTERS LOCAL UNION 524 POLITICAL ACTION
FUND, and ANTHONY GALENAS as treasurer, viclated 2
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U.8.C. 434{a) and make a preliminary determination
that the ecivil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; {2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissicner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 164: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £ind
reagon to believe that VIACOM INTERNATIONAL INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MICHAEL CRUZ as
treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the zreport;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas

did neot wvote.

AF# 165: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that WISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD J FOX as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that rzhe ecivil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, Mc¢Donald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas

did not wvote.

AF# 166: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that MACOMB COUNTY DEMOCRATIC
COMMITTREE, and NANCY FALCONE as treasurer, violated
2 9.8.C. 434{a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
sSmith, and Wold voted affirmatively fow the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.
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AF# 168: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reagson to believe that WEST VIRGINIA REPUBLICAN
STATE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEER, and ROBERT J GOULD as
treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and make a.
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
{2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas

did not vote.

AF# 169: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £ind
reason to believe that CALIFQORNIA VOTER GUIDE, and
LEE ANN FITZGERALD as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and make a preliminary determinatiocn that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the aprropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonzld, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.
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AF# 172: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that PECO ENERGY COMPANY POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILADELPHIA RLECTRIC COMPANY
PAC)., and THERESA M RUCH as treasurer, wvioclated 2
U.5.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2Z) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not wvote.
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Hacarmbary ’73 2000 ﬁ)am@m.a/

Date Darlene Harris
Acting Deputy Secretary
of the Commission



WESTEAN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES

CONFIRMATION OF CMGH TOsRICHARD J FOX
HISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE PAC
164625 W NORTH AVE
MILHAUKEE W1 353226-2331

FEOQERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
LEAH PALMER

999 £ ST Nu # 709
WASHINGTON DC 20463

DECEMBER 7, 2000

RICHARD J FOX

WISCONSIN RIGHY TO LIFE PAC
10625 W NDRTH AVE

MILWAUKEE WI 53225

COOYT3278
AFf#s: 165

DEAR RICHARD J FOX:

THE FEDERAL SLECTIOM CAMPAIGN ACT OF 1971: AS AMENDED {(¥THE
ACT"™1, REQUIRES THAT YOUR COMMITTEE FILE AN DCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORT
TF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS I& A CALENDAR YEAR IN WHICH A
REGULARLY SCHEDULED GENERAL ELECTION IS HELDe THEIS REPORT, COVERING
THE PERIOD THROUGH SEPTEMBER 30THs SHALL BE FILED NO LATER THAN
OCTOBER 15THe 2 Us3aCa 436{A%. YOU WERE PREVIQUSLY NOTIFIED OF THE
DUE DATE FOR THIS REPORT. RECLORDS AT THE COMMISSION INDICATE THAT
THIS REPORT WAS FILED ON 10/26/2000¢ 11 DAYS LATEs

THE ACT WAS FURTHER AMENDED IN 1992 70O PERMIT THE FEDERAL
ELECTION COMMISSION (®THE COMMISSION®) TO IMPOSE CIVIL MONEY
PENALTIES FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE REPORTING REQUIREHMENTS OF 2 UsSeloe
434{A)s 2 Ua3sCo 437GLAMIZ)s OMN 1270572000, THE COMMISSION FOUND
THAT THERE IS REASON TG BELIEVE (™RTB™} THAYT WISCONSIN RIGHT TO
LIFE PAC AND Y(OUs AS TREASURER, VIOLATED 2 UeS.Ce 434143 BY FAILING
TO FILE TIMELY THIS REPORT ON QR BEFORE OCTO3ER 15VHo BASED ON THE
COMMISSION®S SCHEDULES OF CIVIL MOMEY PENALTIES AT 11 CFR 11ll.43¢
THE AMOUNT OF YOUR CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT RT3 IS $850.00.
IT IS DUS 3y 0171472001 AND IS BASED ON THESE FALTORS:

ELECTION SENSITIVITY OF REPORT: ELECTION SENSITVIVE
LEVEL OF ACTIVITY: 943146

NMUMBER OF DAYS LATE: 11

NUMBER OF PREVINUS CIVIL MONEY PEMALTIES ASSESSEDs ©

TS PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY
TO PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MOMEY PERALTYy SEND THE ENCLOSED
REMITTANCE AND YOUR PAYMENT 70 THE COMMISSION AT THE ADORESS ON PAGE
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3. UPON RECEIPT OF YOUR PAYMENT, THE COMMISSION WILL SEND YOU A
FIMAL DETERMINATION LETTER.

TO CHALLENGE THE RTS FINDIAG AMD/OR CALLZULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY

TO CHALLENGE THE RT3 FINDING AND/JOR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY,; YOU MUST SUSMIT A HWRITTEN RESPONSE TO THE COMHISSION®S
JFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEWs 999 E STREETs NHWe WASHINGTON, DC
20463« YOUR RESPONSE MUST SE RECEIVED BY 01714/2001. VYOUR WRITTEN
RESPOMSE MUST INCLUDE THE REASOMIS? WHY YOU ARE CHALLENGING THE RTB
FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MDNEY PENALTY. THE COMMISSION WILL
ONLY CONSIDER CHALLEMGES THAT ARE BASED ON A FACTUAL ERRORe
MISCALCULATION OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY BY THE
COMMISSIONy OR THE EXISTENCE DOF EXTRAORDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES THAT
PERSISTED FOR MORE THAN 48 HOURS THAT WERE B8EVOND YOUR CONTROL AND
PREVENTED YOU FROM FILING THE REPDRT IN A TIMELY MANNER. YOUR
RESPONSE MUST INCLUDE THE FACTUAL BASIS SUPPORTING THE REASON(S} AND
SUPPORT ING DOCUMEMTATION. THE COMMISSION STRONGLY ENCDURAGES THAY
DOCUMENTS BE SUBMITTED IM THE FORM OF AFFIDAVITS OR DECLARATIONS.
EXTRAJRDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES THAT WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED INCLUDE., BUT
ARE NOT LIMITED TO, HEGLIGENCEs PROBLEMS WITH VENDORS OR
CONTRACTORSe STAFF ILLNESSs COMPUTER FAILURES AND SIMILAR
CIRCUMSTANCESs 11 CFR 121.35(BYM4LIQITT) AND (4fe

I¥ ¥OU INTEND TO BS REPRESENTED 8Y COUNSEL, PLEASE ADVISE THE
OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW. YOU SHOULD PROYVIDEs IN HRITING,
THE NAME, ADORESS AND TELEPHCONE NUMBER OF YOUR COUNSEL AND AUTHORIZE
COUNSEL T3 RECEIVE NOTIFICATICNS AND COMMUNICATIONS RELATING TO THIS
CHALLENGE AND INPCSITION OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY.

1F ¥Ou DO NOT PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OR SUBMIT A
CHALLENGE

IF YOU DO MOT PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONZY PENALTY OR SUBMIT A
WRITTEN RESPONSEs THE COMMISSION WILL ASSUME THAT THE PRECEDING
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS ARE TRUE AND MAKE A FINAL DETERMINATION THAY
WISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE PAC AND YOU, AS TREASURER, VIOLATED 2 UaSaC.
&34{A) AND ASSESS A CIVIL MONEY PINALTY.

UNPAID CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES ASSESSED THROUGH THE ADMINISTRATIVE
FINE REGULATIONS WILL BE SUBJECT TO THE De8T COLLECTION ACLT DF
1982(®DCAMIAS AMENDED 3Y THE DE3T COLLECTION IMPROVEMENT ACTY OF
19%9%¢ 31 UoSe.Ce 3701 ET SEQ, THE COMMISSION HMAY TAKE ANY AND ALL
APPROPRIATE ACTION AUTHORIZED AND REQUIRED BY THE DCA, AS AMENDED,
INCLUDING TRANSFER TO THE UeS. DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY FOR
COLLECTION. 11 CFR 111s45.

THIS HMATTER WAS GENERATED BASED ON INFORMATION ASCERTAIMED BY
THE COMMISSION IN THE NORMAL CDURSE OF CARRYING OUT IVS SUPERVISORY
RESPONSIBILITIESs 2 UaSaCo 4#37GfA3323. IT Wittt REHMAIN CONFIDENTIAL
IN ACCORDANCE HWITH 2 UeSaCoe 437GEAI(4108) AND 43T7GIAJI122¢AD UNLESS
YOU NOTIFY THE COMMISSIGON IN WRITING THAT YOU NISH THE MATTER TO 8EF
MADE PUBLIC.

ADDITIONAL TNFORMATION ON THE COMMISSION®S ADMINISTRATIVE FINE
PROGRAM, INCLUDING THE FINAL REGULATIOMSs 1S LOCATED AT THE
COMMISSION®S WEBSITE AT UWW.FEC.GOVe IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS
REGARDING THE PAYMENT OF THE CALCULATED CEVIL MONEY PENALTY, PLEASE
CONTACT Ws BASIL TSIMPRIS IN THE REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION AT JUR
TOLL FREE NUMBER (BO0)424-9530 {PRSSS 1y THEN PRESS 2} DR
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WESTERN UNIDN COMMERCIAL SERVICES

{2021694-1130, IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS REGARDING THE SUBMISSION OF A
CHALLENGEy PLEASE CONTACT THE JFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW AT OUR
TOLL FREE NUMBER {(8001424-9530 {PRESS 0o THEN EXT» 16601 OR
{2023694-15680,

SINKRCERELY,

DARRYL WOLD
CHATRHMAN

% %* & 4 k- . % & & u & o ] ¥
ADMINISTRATIVE FINE REMITTANCE £ PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS

IN ACCORDANCE HWITH THE SCHEDULE DF PENALTIES AT 11 CFR 1110430
THE AMOUNT 2F YOUR CIVIL MOMEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT RT8 IS $850.00

FOR THE 2000 OCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORT.
PLEASE HMATIL THIS REMITTANCE WITH A CHECK OR MONEY ORDER MADE
PAYABLS YO THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION TO THE FOLLOMING ADDRESS:
FEDERAL ELECTICN COMMISSION
Poleo BDX 952182
STe LOUISe MD 63195-2182

IF YDU CHODSE TO SEND YOUR REMITTANCE AND PAYMENT BY COURIER OR

OVERNIGHY JELIVERY, PLEASE USE THIS ADDRESS:
FIRSTAR ~ GOVERNMENT LOCKBOX

FEC 932182
1005 CONVENTION PLAZA
$Te LOUEISe MO 63101

THE REMITTAMCE AND YOUR PAYHENT ARE DUE BY 01714/2001L. UPON
RECEIPT OF YOUR REMITTANCE AND PAYMENT, THE COMMISSION WILL SEND VOU
A FINAL DETERMINATION LETTER.

PLEASE DETACH AND RETURN THE PORTION BSELOW WITH YDUR PAYMENT

o R AP > Y At S b Al M eI S ATS AT I RIS A T A S S R N D D i A T S e s T e WGk ekl T A e WA MOy W A R X3 SEE TR R ) W Sy < Ol e <A bty

FOR: MWISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE PAC
FEC ID#: COO17327a

AF3: 165

PAYMENT DUE DATEs 0171472001

PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE: $850.00
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION e,

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463

March 27, 2001

MEMORANDUM
TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON '
ASSISTANT STAF} DIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION

RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2000 OCTOBER
QUARTERLY AND NOVEMBER MONTHLY REPORTS

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers which the
Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil money
penalties calculated at RTB for failure to file or failure to timely file the 2000 October
Quarterly and November Monthty Reports. The first list represents committees that have
paid the civil money penalty and the second list represents those that rave not paid. The
committees that have not paid have been given at least forty (40} days from the date of the

RTB notification to remit payment.

R 111.34 and 11 CFR 111.40, the Commission shall send

In accordance with 11 CF
not paid the civil

a final determination notice to those respondents that have either paid or
money penalty.

committees have filed their reports after the RTB finding. The actual level of
activity disclosed on the report results in a civil money penalty which is lower than that

assessed at RTB.

The comimitlees

arc.
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s Committee to Elect Kevin McKeigue for US Senate
AF #140

None of the committees listed above have paid the civil money penalty. The actual
level of activity and receipt date of the reports, as well as the revised civil money
penalties, are reflected on the attached *not paid” circulation report.

additional committees filed the report after the RTB finding and disclosed
levels of activity that would have resulted in higher civil money penalties had the reports
been filed prior to the RTB stage. However, the internal procedures adopted by the
Commission on March 20, 2001 only allows for approval of a lower civil money penalty
at the final determination stage if the report discloses an actual level of activity which is
less than the estimate on which the RTB civil money penalty was based. Therefore, the
civil money penalty that is recommended at the final determination stage for the
following committees is the same amount that was approved at the RTB stage:

e Eva Clayton Committee for Congress (AF #148)
RTB fine based on estimated level of activity: $4,000
Actual level of activity fine: 35,000
(The $4,000 finc has been paid by the Committce)
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RAD Recommendation

(1) Make final determinations that the political committees and their treasurers on the
attached lists violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalkies so

indicated.

(2) Send the appropriate letters.



06g 1S

SZTYS

£26§

gZe 1S

-
o

36eS

-
T
Fal
(%}

Pl

—m e — s =

v
“n

e
“y

;qdaruvwnd ¥IBOIN0 000

AT¥3zE¥nd H3€OLI0 000

A1432d¥nd €3890I30 000

ATHAINYAY ¥3IE0LDC 000

1Ty Lav” d380L030 0G5

ivHzravel BIEOLI0 O

v

s ¥3g0L20 270

ridareved HITOL20 Guol

H3ig0L30

£
[
<

smugsewn? BIE0LI0 Cif T

o m e e m e e S - ———————

P

INLTWY

. LHOdAH

-
Pie

-
<

4

1

ra

W &

o gy

1oozrs21/710 0se’'18 0002:50/21
g0z°'z9% i Cen2, LZ/01
HOSLY480Y HATOYYD DEEGLOODD
YA D17and3% IHI YOI SH3IZILID  vetodY
1002/€0/10 [ T332 0002/50/21
[ -3 S &4 it 0ooes/92/0¢
NOSHEAIIA M HUVR gLy L8000D
Ho FFLLIWKOD NOILOY TYOILiTod TYHag3ad OHI TTIE IJWANIOHNID £5104v
1002Z/780/10 526§ Qo02s60/2!t
ZOZTITS St 0002/0€/01
WAYYL AW ITILIT 9 WYITTIIM 08LVZEQOD
18 Avd WIYY FTILIWWOD HOILOY TYIIIITOd EHIDIAIW ADNIDWIMZ J0 AWIAYIV HYDIHAHY 16103¥
1002,62/10 SZL'TS gaeess0/21!
00z’69S L3 000Z/10/11
NOHDOHD 13YHOIW S¥E9GEQ0D
¥ {avd 3QV¥HI.31 O¥d JHE &noHs 3dvdded OFI0IY
1goL/9L/1D SLES 0002Z/60/21
GLE'ES T o poogz/soz/ot
40 O¥¥DOvA M ONNYUEZ rogrreoon HOL 'A3I03
Yot ILYNIS SN ¥03 ATT0J WOL (OTQ4Y
1000/91/30 0G4S peoz/s0/2¢
feL’62s 6 gpag/srersol
111 S3A338 R SITHYHD SL{BICA0D M AE0OH3H9 SYIEN
i 00or SS3¥HN0I o4 §¥IAN sv10dV
Tenz/ul/ i 0go’ts 0002/60/21
fasa) 906293 pAITd 10N
FACHSUYYH L KSIWd (Y5L62000 HOSHAIHIOIN wAT 'HOLAVID
ou S5IUONOD ¥Od FFLLIHWOD NOIRIVWID YAd 8P10dY
1002/62/710 GTL TS pooz/s0/Tt
rv8’'8ZLS 6 000Z/v2/0tL
vodLdo Tivdvy LILIGEDOD ¥ Addar ‘HOIZIHYC
M JILLIWHOD FLYNAS Sa HOS HDIZINYL ZOU0dV
onoz/GtsC ! 5265 ooazssost
zLo'ezs ! Q0n2/st10/tt
CIINYT MRIT AWYNW 190{%{00D - ¥yr 33T AO0d ‘SH3ILS
A4 0007 / SSIAMONQD MO& SYIILS FIT GOLOIY
100E/0L/ 10 SLES 0602/50/21
. LR T & (¢ 000Z/70€C/01
aoHd Hg3Isor LEG96C0aa fgod) 1 IHdgod 'WYHd3d
92 553IUOH0D HO4 HWYUO3Id 6004V
atvae ILva ALIYNAL XA3INOU TIATD ZI¥ad FATITIE 0L HOSY3H
ALIATIOY 20 13231 3L¥1 Si¥a 3l¥a 1d1303d
MIUNSYIUD a1 3ALLIWHOD AUV TLYOTGHYD
ILYLS INYN IILLIUHOD ¥ Ay

qivd
1d0d3d HOILVINOHID ROILVHIWYILIA TWVNIL
0007 ~6661 HOISSIWWOD NOILI3TE TYH3IGid

LTS IR OG pr e om o -
Byt " i T2

™




o

w

Wy
-

4

ca

A

=

iggeyeg/ie

AM

gopZset/sat

I

1002/722/10

Ya

1op7/00/10

im

1ooz/11/10

a4

oo0c/9e/ 0l

AN

oodz/et/zt

ayl

a1noon £ L¥E90d

IHIAZLIOE J3TY

NOILNIANOD TYHOILVN

KG4 ¢ QdVHOIY

Z20¥0 TIYHOIIW

ATTI3Y # F2QOID

HYHITLLIN W LNIHL

¥3ynsvI¥L

060715
$0z’298

§21° 18
CYA RN AT

JHe2TYd AONYH . ZE€LVYSEDOD
3ITLLIWHOD DILYHICHAT AINAOT BHGOYH

00s'9%
1L6'6228

as8s
9r1eYs

008Ss
1e6°1ES

208180000
ARLLIMHOD IATLAIENE FIVES HY2IT8nd3d YIHIOYWIA Is3a

RBOCTEOOD
nysI1TENd3N 0008 IHL H¥OJI SLINFHAONYEEY H0o FZLIIHHGD

grzeeinoo

FILLINMOD HOILOY 3417 of Lusld

64L(91003

60G2s50/21
o00e/L2/01

gooz/ss0rs2l
ao0ZsrZ/ol

99103 A

gooTsev/il
ooozZsoZs1l

LLToaY

goozssasil
005¢/92/01

HISHODSEA  £9103Y

00GET/50/ 01
00QZ/62/01

FILLINKOI HOILDY TY¥JIILITOd 2HI TYNOILYNYILHI HODYIA #9104V

SiLL'tls
£Y170t1S

psr’es
559°'6018$

ALI¥H3d AIHOW TIALD

ALIATILOY 40 734371

120434 HOIIVYINJHID HOILYNIWHMILIA TYHIZ
1

.ﬁnp t g m;@Oimmn Wm_ 61

L et e

KHOIS$SIWHOD HOTILD2373 1¥H3a:

BLYLTCDOD

ZILIIKHOS HOILOY TYDILITOd-JAN U ON HOTIMN TYI01T

01er8eo0d

FILLIMKOD HOILOY 1T¥DILIT04 ONHI FYHOIIVYRUILNI

g1 FILLIKWCD

000e/s507231
gooZszz/son

SYHEHNTd 65104V

000Z/50/21
gQoersesol

LILOTHEYH 8S1043Y

JIYQ 3IAII73IAE 0L KOSViAY
A1¥0 Ld4135349

u¥n FILYAIANYD

AWYN FILILIWHOS 8 d¥

8910dY A




D30°€S ﬁo%u\mﬂ\no 0507 €S 16oZ/{0/10

0LO‘CETS 1 0G02/60/21
ATHINOKH HIAHIAON 00GC e SITAM A IWOAOIHI §IBRLSCQO0D 1119 A3‘10vdd
00 JH! ILNZAQISI¥d ¥03 A3Tavdg 1119 LEZ04Y S
g1vyd IHAO0HY Ql¥d IL¥a ALIVHId RIHOW TIAID LY@ 3A31738 ©L HOSVIY
ALIAILOY J0 T13A317 JFINT SAvA FI¥Q L4i3o3d
F3AL JuOoddd 4IENSVIHI g1 FRILLIHHOD ANV FLYQIANYD
ILY.LS FWYN FILIIMKCD LI 4

aiva
1d0d3d HOILYTINDHID HOILLYHIWYILIC THH
T-6661 HOISSIWHOD HOIL2ATA TvdEd

260" T

-
-

w
o
B
-

vl g
N kb 1




-t
<.

1$

ATH3LNYnd HIGCLIC 0001

P et

ALIYNZS AIHOW TIATD TUYNIZ

ZJAAL l¥oddd

zit gI1 18 0002/50/21
§G1°695 & cooz/svz/sol
yadvy 3 Fonud . 1BISEEOD HLYOMSTIZ SYWOHL ‘SHIADLAN
a1 SSIdONOD MCd SNIHILAH (PT0dv
¥
gld ZOHIS SAvVO ALI¥NEd I8 R AT RAY
ALIAILOY 40 1IAIT ILYT SANG 31¥q Ld1353d
¥IUASYIYL g1 431L1UMOD INYN ALYTIGRYD
3LYLS YR ITLLIHHOD ¥ oa¥
aIvd 1o#
1¥0d3¥ HOILY¥INJOHID HOILVHIWUILIG TWNIS
C00Z-6661 NOISSIHHOD NOILIATA T¥HIAXd
W - oo o = e wrme
OSSO T



e fad

¥o
cLZ’'1s
A7¥319¥vnd ¥42d0300 0002
qa
00818
s1dzLavnd ¥3IE0OLI0 0900
L)
H
Lrtwsid AINOW Tiald 1¥HII
144l LHOd3Y
1LY
4
(o ILVN

Ai8318%0l ¥I40L00 0061

Z1t
9L6 “£18§
AITOYIOW 4 S3HYC

oors

ZZyreopned
FILITHHOD HOIIOY A¥DILITO4 ONI SHNI A¥QITOH 30 HNSSY T.INI Y4/ HHT

211 GLe'ls
s9c£‘89%
HIYSRTIIT £ YHVS 18220002
FILLIHKHGD
it 005'¢€S
256°09¢6s
INOIAROH HIAZY LEGESE00D
4I¥N3S 50 HOJ
41y IOHIS SAiva ALY HIEd
RL1n1l0Y 40 T13a31
43unsyisl G! 3ALLIMNGD
Le
arvd LON
LHOA3Y HOTLYTINOYID HOIIVKIWHIZAA TVHIZ
0002-6661 HNOISSTIHWOI HOILDATR Tvdiads
[ s R o B
f{mm E R i ﬁm

NOILOY T¥IILITOd ILNLILSNI IW3H

INDTANIM

0002/50/21
ot cogoC/s8lsOtL

omﬂowﬂx

0002/50/21
11 gogde/gc/at

HY S TdAWY  24104Y ,

0002/5%0/21
R3]

FONAUAYT HIAZN
13318 Of F3ILLINHOD

gooegsvoset
CANDTININ
oriody

parrd

HIAIM

3iva qid
cAva

JLlvy
RIEh #H
JHYH FASIIWKHOD

2413038
TLYSIAHYD
£ dY

FLv




000'€3

1TyaIavnd ¥IBOLI0 060

LT3l

IS

EDI A

yvird d3gola0 0002

ovidd AIHOHW

[

61 °L618

Nnvddg H3ILAd

(AN

{3g2) 691°9pS

HONE W YSIHIHL
¥ STHLOATE YINATIAYTIIHG v¥Hi)

180434 KOILVINDEID HOTLVHIMMALAAQ "I¥nl

QOeT-06H61T HOISSIWHOD NOTLIITH

i X oot S A L )
5SS [T v

o00’ts 0002/50/21
71 anovs e iul
AT10E70QD
AALLIHHOD BOLEIVY MU2TL DL 0ol Taindy
o00o0'zs goaersaset
Pt g o
101091002

FILLTHHGS ROILIY T¥OILIT0d AIKNVAIHOD ADMIANT ODHd

TYAH3ICHT

2riody

gld 3IDH1S SV ALIVHId 2LH JLva 8lY
ALENTILOVY d0 TRAHET ILYT SAva 3Llva LJ1303¥¢
HIdNSYIdL ar J3LLIWIGO Wy FLYATAHYD
TLYLS AHWYN 3ILLIHWND 4 IY
givd Lo

r




FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20463 )

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Wednesday, March 28, 2001 4:00

BALLOT DEADLINE: Monday, April 02, 2001 4:00

| ™

B COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SANDSTROM, SMITH, THOMAS, WOLD
M SUBJECT: Administrative Fines Final Determination Recommendation

| : For The 2000 Octoher Quarterly And November Monthly

| fi‘ Reports.

5

e
P () | approve the recommendation(s)

&

W

| object to the recommendation(s)

g

i hed
——
o

| approve the recommendations except those following
to which | object {please insert AF#)

i
—
S

e
o
[L N

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

A definite vote is required. All ballots rust be signed and dated. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above. '

DATE: SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Administrative Fines Final
Determination Recommendation For The
2000 October Quarterly And November
Monthly Reports

PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS, and JOSEPH CHOU

as treasurer;
LEE STEERS FOR CONGRESS / 2000, and

MARY LYNWN LANIER as treasurer;
JANEZICH FOR US SENATE COMMITTEE, and
RAFAEL ORTEGA as treasurer;

0¥ FOLEY FQR US SENATE, and FRANK M
VACCARO JR as treasurer;

B e i T

AF# 97
aF# 100
AF# 102

AF# 107



Federal Election Commigsion
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

COMMITTEE TO ELECT KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR
US SENATE, and KEVIN MCKEIGUE as
treasurex;

BUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS, and BRUCE E
RAFER as treasurer;

MEEKS FOR CONGRESS 2000, and CHARRLES H
REEVES III as treasurer;

EVA CLAYTON COMMITTEE FOR CONGRESS,
and PATSY T HARGROVE ag treasurer;

E*TRADE CGROUP INC PAC (E*TRADE PAC),
and MICHAEL CHOCHON as treasurer;
AMERICAN ACADENY OF EMERGENCY MEDICINE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE AAEM PAC,
and WILLIAM R LITTLE MD FAAEM as
treasurer;

AMERICAN MEART INSTITUTE POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILYGREN
ag treasurer;

CINCINNATI BELL INC FEDERAL POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEER, and MARK W PETERSON
as treasurer;

CITIZENS FOR THE REPUBLIC, and CAROLYN
ROBERTSON as treasurer;

INN/PAC INT'L ASSN OF HCLIDAY INNS INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAMES
P MCCAULEY as treasurer;

MARRIOTYT INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT M
RITTLEMAN ag treasurer;

PLUMBERS LOCAL UHNION NC 1
NYC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
GECRGE W RELILLY as treasurer;

O L N v

et st Nt s M Ml e’ e et

AF#

AFH

AFH

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AR

AF#

AF#

AF#

AFH

Page 2

140

143

145

148

150

151

152

154

156

158

159



Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

TACO POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
PETER BRAUN as treasurer;

VIACOM INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and MICHAEL CRUZ as
treasurer;

WISCONSIN RIGHT Y0 LIFE POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD J FOX as
treagurer;

MACOMB COUNTY DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE,
and NANCY FALCONE as treasurer;

WEST VIRGINIA REPUBLICAN STATE
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and ROBERT J
GOULD as treasurer;

PECO ENERGY COMPANY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILADELPHIA ELECTRIC
COMPANY PAC),’ and THERESA M RUCH as
treasurer;

COMMITTEE ON ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE 2000
REPUBLICAN NATION CONVENTION, and ALEC
POITEVINT as treasurer;

BILL BRADLEY FOR PRESIDENT INC, and
THEODORE V WELLS JR asg treasurer;

R N

L N "V

Page

AF# 162

AF# 164

AF#f 165

AF# 166

AF# 168

AF# 172

AF# 177

AFH# 237

3
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April 02, 2001

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal
flection Commission, do hereby certify that
on April 2, 2001 the Commission toock the following
actions on the Final Determination Recommendation
For The 2000 Octcber Quarterly And November Monthly
Report in the Administrative Fines Program, as
recommended in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001, on the following

committees:

AF# 57: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS,
and JOSEPH CHOU as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess a civil money penalty indicated in
the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated
March 27, 2001; (2) send the appropriate letter.
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Federal Election Commission page 5

Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

Commissionerg Mascon, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AF# 100: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the LEE STEERS FOR CONGRESS
/ 2000, and MARY LYNN LANIER as treasurer, violated
2 U.8.C. 434 (a) and assess a c¢ivil money penalty
indicated in the Reports Analysig Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 102: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the JANEZICH FOR US SENATE
COMMITTEE, and RAFAEL ORTEGA as treasurer, vioclated
2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money penalty
indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Masom, McDonald,

Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 107: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the TOM FOLEY FOR US -
SENATE, and FRANK M VACCARQ JR as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter, Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.
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April 02, 2001

AF# 140: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the COMMITTEE TO ELECT
KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR US SENATE, and KEVIN MCKEIGUE as
treagurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter.
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AF# 143: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a

P
= final determination that the HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS,

Fo)
%L and BRUCE E RAFER as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

£4 434 (a) and assess a civil money penalty indicated in
8 the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated

£3 March 27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.

i Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,

HE Thomag, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

® decision.

ﬁ:

et AF# 145: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a

; final determination that the MEEKS FOR CONGRESS
ni 2000, and CHARLES H REEVES III as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434{(a) and asgsess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 148: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the EVA CLAYTON COMMITTEE
FOR CONGRESS, and PATSY T HARGROVE as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S8.C. 434{(a) and agsess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter.
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Federal Election Commission Page 10

Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas,
and Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 150: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the E*TRADE GROUP INC PAC
(E*TRADE PAC), and MICHAEL CHOCHON as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S5.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold wvoted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 151: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1} make a
final determination that the AMERICAN ACADEMY OF -
EMERGENCY MEDICINE PCLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE AAEM
PAC, and WILLIAM R LITTLE MD FAAEM as treasurer,
viclated 2 U.S.C. 434{(a) and assess a civil mocney
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold votad
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 152: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: {1 make a
final determination that the AMERICAN MEAT INSTITUTE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILYGREN as
treasurer, wvioclated 2 U.5.C. 434{a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
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2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 153: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the CINCINNATI BELL INC
FEDERAL POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARK W
PETERSON as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
agssess a civil money penalty indicated in the
Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March
27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Weold voted affirmatively foxr the
decision.

AF# 154: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the CITIZENS FOR THE
REPURBLIC, and CAROLYN ROBERTSON as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 156: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the INN/PAC INT'L ASSN OF
HOLIDAY INNS INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
JAMES P MCCAULEY as treasurer, violated 2 U.5.C.
434(a) and assess a civil money penalty indicated in
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the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated
March 27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commigsioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AF# 158: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL
INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT M
KITTLEMAN as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
agsess a civil money penalty indicated in the
Reports Analysis Division®s Memorandum dated March
27, 2001;{(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commigsioners Mason, M¢Donald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AFH# 159: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION NO
1 NYC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and GEORGE W
REILLY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S5.C. 434(a) and
aggess a civil money penalty indicated in the
Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March
27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter. -
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively £for the
decisgion,
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AF# 162: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the TACO POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE, and PETER BRAUN as treasurer, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money penalty
indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;{(2) send the
appropriate lettexr. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 164: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the VIACOM INTERNATIONAL
INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MICHAEL CRUZ as
treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commisgicners
Mason, McDenald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 165: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the WISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD J FOX as
treasurer, violated 2 U.5.C. 434(a) and assess 2

civil money penalty indicated in the Reports -

Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 166: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the MACOMB COUNTY
DEMOCRATIC COMMITTER, and NANCY FALCONE as
treagurer, vioclated 2 U.S.C. 432(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in . the Reports
analysis Divigion's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) zend the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.
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AF# 168: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the WEST VIRGINIA
REPUBLICAN STATE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and ROBERT J
GOULD as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and
assess a civil money penalty indicated in the

i Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March
i~ 27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.

e Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

—od
T3

AF# 172: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the PECC ENERGY COMPANY
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILADELPHIA
ELECTRIC COMPANY PAC), and THERESA M RUCH as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S8.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
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Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

LFH# 177: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the COMMITTEE ON
ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE 2000 REPUBLICAN WATION
CONVENTION, and ALEC POITEVINT as treasurer,
violated 2 U.8.¢C. 434{a) and assess a c¢civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum cdated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

-

AF# 237: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the BILL BRADLEY FOR
PRESIDENT INC, and THECDORE V WELLS JR as treasurer,
violated 2 U.2.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissionexs Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decisgion.
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Attest:

PR e T
(g b o 200/ %AM 4 Newe
Date Mary Wéyﬁove
Secretary of the Commission

Received in the Secretariat: Wed., Mar. 28, 2001 12:34 p.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Wed., Mar. 28, 2001 4:00 p.m.
Deadline for wvotes Mon., Apr. 02, 2001 4:00 p.m.
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HESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES
CONFIRHMATION OF HAILGRAM TO:RICHARD 4 FOX
#ISCOMNSIN RIGHT TO LIFE PAC
10625 W NORTH AVE
MILWAUKEE Wl 53226-2331

FEDERAL ELECTION TOMMISSION
LEAR PALMER

993 & 5T NH B 709
WASHINGTON DC 20463

APRIL 4¢ 2001

RICHARD J FIX

WISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE PAC
12625 W NORTH AVE

MILWAUKEE MI 53226

co01T3278
AF#z 1565

DSAR RICHARD J FOX3

ON 1270572000, THE FEDSRAL ELECTION COMMISSION (9THE
COMMISSTION®) FOUND REASOM TO BELIEVE (®RT3I¥} THAT WISCONSIN RIGHT
TO LISE PAC AND YOJUs AS TREASURERe: VIOLATED 2 UeSsLo 4#3%(AN FOR
FILING LATE QR FAILING T3 FILE THE 2000 OCTDBER QUARTERLY REPORT.
BY “AILGRAM DATED 12/0772000s THE COMMISSION SENT YDU NOTIFICATION
OF THE RTB FIMDING THAT INCLUDED A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT
RT3 OF $6850.00 IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SCHEDULE OF PENALTIES AT 11
CsFeRo 1llla%ds

NN 0171072001 THE COMMEISSION RECEIVED PAYHMENT OF YOUR CIVIL
MINTY PENALTY CALCULATED AT RTB. THEREFORE, THE COHMISSION RADE A
FINAL DETZRMINATION ON 0470272001 THAT YOU, A5 TREASURER; AND
WISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE PAC VIOLATED 2 UeSoCe 4341Abe ASSESSED A
CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IN THE AMOUNT OF 53850.00 1IN ACCORDANCE WITH 11
CeFofla 111e43y AND VOTED TO CLOSE THE FILEe

THE CONFIDENTIALITY PROVISIONS AT 2 UeS5sCo 237G(AN{12) NO LONGER
APPLY AND THIS MATTER IS NDW PUBLIC. THE FILE WILL BE MADE A PART
OF THE PUBLIC RECNRD PURSUANT TO 11 CoFoRe 111042¢3)e ALTHOUGH THE
COMPLETE FILE MUST B8E PLACED ON THE PUBLIC RECORD WITHIN THIRTY (301}
DAYS FROW THE DATE OF THE COMMISSION®S NOTIFICATEONe THIS COULD
OCCUR AT ANYTIME FOLLOWING CERTIFICATION OF THE COMMISSION®S YOTE.

IF YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS REGARDING THIS MATTERs PLEASE CONTACY
JOBN Go MUCKLE ON QUR TOLL FREE NUM3ER {800)424-9530 I{PRESS 1ls¢ THEN
PRESS 2) OR {202)694=1130,

SINCERELYy

DANNY LEE MCDONALD
CHAIRHMAN



FOR: WISCONSIN RIGHT TO LI

FEC ID&#: C@@173278

AF#: 165
PAYMENT DUE DATE: @1/14/2081

~ - \

PAYMENT AMOUNT DUE: sasg.@r;}
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